
 

 
Cambridge City Council 

 
 

 
 

 
i 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
To:   Councillors Reid (Chair), Saunders (Vice-Chair), Blencowe, Herbert, 

Marchant-Daisley and Tucker 
 
Alternate Councillors: Stuart and Owers 
 
Executive Councillor for Planning and Sustainable Transport:  
Councillor Ward 
 

Despatched: Monday, 9 July 2012 
  
Date: Tuesday, 17 July 2012 
Time: 4.30 pm 
Venue: Committee Room 1 & 2 - Guildhall 
Contact:  Toni Birkin Direct Dial:  01223 457086 
 

AGENDA 
 

1    APOLOGIES   
 

 To receive any apologies for absence.   
 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

 Members are asked to declare at this stage any interests, which they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda. If any member is unsure 
whether or not they should declare an interest on a particular matter, they 
are requested to seek advice from the Head of Legal Services before the 
meeting. 
   

3    MINUTES   
 

 To follow 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
ii 

4   PUBLIC QUESTIONS (SEE BELOW) 
 

5   COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY FOR CAMBRIDGE  
(Pages 1 - 10) 
 

 
Key Decision not included on the Forward Plan 
The following item relates to a key decision that has not been included on the 
Forward Plan. However, it is impractical to defer the decisions to allow inclusion in 
the next Forward Plan. 
 
The item is included on the agenda by way of formal notice to the Chair, to the 
Group Spokespersons, to other members of the Committee and to the public that the 
Executive Councillor is being asked to make this decision. 
  
6   JOINT STATEMENT ON THE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY FOR 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH (Pages 11 - 22) 
 

 
 
 

Information for the Public 
 

QR Codes 
(for use with Smart 

Phones) 
Location 

 
 
 

 

The meeting is in the Guildhall on the 
Market Square (CB2 3QJ).  
 
Between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m. the building 
is accessible via Peas Hill, Guildhall 
Street and the Market Square 
entrances. 
 
After 5 p.m. access is via the Peas Hill 
entrance. 
 
All the meeting rooms (Committee 
Room 1, Committee 2 and the Council 
Chamber) are on the first floor, and are 
accessible via lifts or stairs.  
 
 

 



 
iii 

Public 
Participation 

Some meetings may have parts, which 
will be closed to the public, but the 
reasons for excluding the press and 
public will be given.  
 
Most meetings have an opportunity for 
members of the public to ask questions 
or make statements. 
 
To ask a question or make a statement 
please notify the Committee Manager 
(details listed on the front of the agenda) 
prior to the deadline.  
 
• For questions and/or statements 
regarding items on the published 
agenda, the deadline is the start of 
the meeting. 

 
• For questions and/or statements 
regarding items NOT on the 
published agenda, the deadline is 
10 a.m. the day before the 
meeting.  

 
Speaking on Planning Applications or 
Licensing Hearings are subject to other  
rules and guidance on speaking on 
these issues can be obtained from 
Democratic Services on 01223 457013 
or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk.  
 

 

Filming, 
recording 

and 
photography 

The Council is committed to being open 
and transparent in the way it conducts 
its decision making. Recording is 
permitted at council meetings which are 
open to the public. The Council 
understands that some members of the 
public attending its meetings may not 
wish to be recorded. The Chair of the 
meeting will facilitate by ensuring that 
any such request not to be recorded is 
respected by those doing the recording.  
 

 



 
iv 

Full details of the City Council’s protocol 
on audio/visual recording and 
photography at meetings can be 
accessed via 
 
www.cambridge.gov.uk/democracy/ecS
DDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1057&ID=105
7&RPID=33371389&sch=doc&cat=1320
3&path=13020%2c13203.  
 

Fire Alarm In the event of the fire alarm sounding 
please follow the instructions of 
Cambridge City Council staff.  
 

 

Facilities for 
disabled 
people 

Access for people with mobility 
difficulties is via the Peas Hill entrance. 
 
A loop system is available in Committee 
Room 1, Committee Room 2 and the 
Council Chamber.  
 
Adapted toilets are available on the 
ground and first floor. 
 
Meeting papers are available in large 
print and other formats on request. 
 
For further assistance please contact 
Democratic Services on 01223 457013 
or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 

 

 
Queries on 
reports 

 
If you have a question or query 
regarding a committee report please 
contact the officer listed at the end of 
relevant report or Democratic Services 
on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 
v 

 
General 

Information 
 
Information regarding committees, 
councilors and the democratic process 
is available at 
www.cambridge.gov.uk/democracy.  
 
I 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Planning and Climate 
Change: Councillor Tim Ward 

Report by: Head of Planning Services 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Development Plan Scrutiny 
Sub Committee 

17/07/2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

Community Infrastructure Levy – Project Plan
Not a key decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) powers came into force in 
April  2010. Essentially it allows local authorities to levy a charge on 
new development in their area. The money can be used to fund a wide 
range of infrastructure that is needed as a result of the development. 
This includes new or safer road schemes, flood defences, schools, 
hospitals and other health facilities, park improvements, green spaces, 
etc. A short briefing on CIL will be provided as part of the introduction 
of this item.

1.2 It was agreed at Development Plan Scrutiny Sub Committee on 
22/03/2011, that the Council’s CIL approach would be prepared and 
taken forward in parallel with the Local Plan review, with the intention 
of adopting a CIL Charging Schedule by April 2014.  The purpose of 
this report is to inform the Committee of the project plan and timetable 
for the production of a CIL.  

2. Recommendations 

2.1 The report is being submitted to Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-
Committee for prior consideration and comment before decision by the 
Executive Councillor for Planning and Climate Change. 

2.2 The Executive Councillor is recommended to 

1) Agree the CIL Project Plan as set out in paragraphs 3.13 to 3.18 
and Table 1 and 2.   

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 5

Page 1



Report Page No: 2 

3. Background 

What is CIL? 

3.1 The 2008 Planning Act established powers to create a Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in England and Wales. This came into force 
on 6 April 2010 through the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (now amended by the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (Amendment) Regulations 2011). The Council committed to 
taking a Community Infrastructure Levy forward in parallel with a Local 
Plan Review at Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-Committee on 22-03-
2011.

3.2 In order to mitigate the impact of new development the Council 
collects contributions towards infrastructure provision from new 
developments in the form of planning obligations, sometimes referred 
to as Section 106 Agreements. The CIL is a new system of collecting 
contributions towards development. The Planning Act 2008 provides a 
broad definition of infrastructure projects which can be funded by the 
levy, including transport, flood defences, schools, hospitals and other 
health and social care facilities. This definition is not exhaustive.

3.3 CIL is intended to supplement (not replace) other funding streams. A 
number of contributions will still be acquired through S.106 Planning 
Obligations. These include affordable housing requirements (although 
a government CIL consultation includes the possibility of including 
affordable housing within the scope of CIL)(both on-site and off-site) 
and site specific on site infrastructure. However, the government 
considers that the CIL is a more transparent and simple method of 
collecting funds for infrastructure to support development than the 
current system of planning obligations (S.106). 

3.4 As such regulations restrict the use of Section 106 post 2014 to 
encourage local planning authorities to introduce a CIL. The 
restrictions mean that post April 2014 (or adoption of a CIL schedule, 
whichever is sooner) S.106 can only be used to mitigate site specific 
impacts of new development. In practice this means that post 2014 a 
local planning authority may only enter into five panning obligations to 
secure the same item of infrastructure.  This seriously limits the ability 
to raise funds from S.106 post April 2014.

3.5 CIL allows local authorities to raise funds from developers, via a 
charging schedule, for a wide range of infrastructure.  The levy takes 
the form of a standardised charge applied per square metre of new 
development. CIL breaks the direct link between development and 
infrastructure provision, which gives the Council and beneficiaries of 
CIL monies more flexibility over what infrastructure funding may be 
spent on. CIL monies can be spent on any identified infrastructure 

Page 2



Report Page No: 3 

need (unlike S.106 Agreements which require a direct link between 
the development and any infrastructure project).  

3.6 The levy is based on economic viability and is intended to encourage 
development by creating a balance between collecting revenue to 
fund infrastructure and ensuring the rates are not so high that they 
discourage development. It will be important to demonstrate that any 
potential charging levels are reasonable and justified in terms of 
viability. The recent CIL examination at Huntingdonshire District 
Council and other examinations have highlighted the importance of 
having viability consultants with extensive knowledge of the financial 
workings of the development industry. 

3.7 The charging schedule for CIL is set locally and is represented as a 
standard charge per square metre on the net impact of development. 
The levy is non-negotiable and will be applied to all relevant 
developments.

3.8 A Local Authority can implement different CIL charges based on 
specific charging zones but only if there is viability evidence to do so. 

3.9 The Council, as charging authority, will impose charges at the point 
planning permission is granted. Charges would then be payable at 
commencement of development. Payment will be by the person that 
assumes liability for the levy (e.g. the developer). In the case of 
nobody claiming liability the responsibility will be on the landowner. 

3.10 A local authority may introduce an instalment policy, otherwise 
payment of CIL in full is required within 60 days of the commencement 
date.

3.11 Exceptions to the levy include: 

 ! Charities that own part of the land and the development will be 
used wholly or mainly for charitable purposes; 

 ! Social housing; and, 

 ! The option of a levy waiver in exceptional circumstances that 
would have an unacceptable impact on the economic viability of a 
development.

Process overview 

3.12 In order to introduce CIL the Council need to have an up to date 
development plan in place. As a result it has been agreed to take CIL 
forward in tandem with the Local Plan Review. This should help to 
ensure complementarity and effective use of resources. There are 

Page 3



Report Page No: 4 

three main strands of work that need to be progressed in order to 
adopt CIL 

 ! Publication of a charging schedule 

 ! Development of new administrative and accountancy processes 

 ! Governance

Charging Schedule 

3.13 The process for adopting CIL is guided by legislation. It involves a 
significant amount of evidence gathering to justify the approach taken, 
and several stages of public consultation. The process also involves 
an Examination by an independent Inspector. The main output from 
this area of work will be a CIL Charging Schedule, which sets out the 
charges per square metre and details of how the scheme will function. 

3.14 The charging schedule will be supported by two main pieces of 
evidence:

 ! Cambridge City and South Cambridgeshire District Council 
Infrastructure Delivery Study – This work, which was funded 
through Cambridgeshire Horizons and is being carried out by 
Peter Brett Associates, is nearing completion and the final draft of 
this work will be presented to  DPSSC in September for 
consideration. This work establishes infrastructure requirements, 
likely costs and likely funding, based on predicted levels of 
housing and employment growth. For the purposes of CIL it 
needs to demonstrate that there is a funding ‘gap’ that CIL will, in 
part, be used to fill.

It should be noted that this document will also be a key part of the 
evidence base (used to demonstrate deliverability) for the Local 
Plan.

 ! The Local Plan and CIL Viability Assessment – given that the 
NPPF places an increased emphasis on the need for viability in 
plan making, developing a comprehensive approach in relation to 
viability would have the advantage of strengthening the evidence 
base for the Local Plan and CIL, and it would also make effective 
use of resources.

As a result, the Council is currently seeking to commission 
suitably qualified consultants to undertake an economic viability 
assessment on the sites and scale of potential housing and 
commercial development in Cambridge. 

Page 4



Report Page No: 5 

In relation to CIL, this report will set out information on 
development viability across the city, and will help us to frame 
potential charging levels. It will be important to demonstrate that 
any CIL charging levels are reasonable and justified, as the 
inspector will focus on this issue at the CIL Examination. This 
work will also form part of the evidence base for the Local Plan, 
as it will establish the impact of affordable housing policy and any 
other policy standards (e.g. code for sustainable homes, minimum 
space standards, density policy) on the economic viability of 
development. Changes in market conditions or fluctuations in the 
economy could require that this work is refreshed and rechecked 
as the project progresses. 

3.15 Once the evidence base is in place the Council must carry out two 
consultations, firstly on the Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule and 
then on the Draft Charging Schedule. These documents will be 
considered by Environment Scrutiny Committee prior to public 
consultation. The preliminary stage will set out the proposed charging 
levels for each type of development and any variations across the city. 
The consultation period is not prescribed but six weeks is 
recommended. The consultations will be carried out in tandem with 
other Local Plan consultations as far as possible.

3.16 After consideration has been given to representations on the 
preliminary stage a Draft Charging Schedule is produced and this 
needs to be consulted on for a minimum of four weeks.  

3.17 Following consultation and any subsequent changes, the draft 
schedule can be submitted for examination by an independent 
inspector.  This examination will take place following examination of 
the Local Plan and the Inspector’s Report. This is to ensure that the 
evidence relating to infrastructure provision and delivery is found 
sound.

3.18 The charging schedule must be formally approved by a resolution of 
the full Council. The key milestones are outlined in Table 1. Although 
there is no fixed date, a review may be necessary every couple of 
years to ensure the charge remains relevant (i.e. does not put 
development at risk due to changing market circumstances). 

Table 1 – CIL Charging Schedule – proposed timetable 
Milestone/task  Date Duration if known 
Evidence work
Infrastructure Delivery Study (to 
adopt as part of Local Plan and 
CIL evidence base) 

September 2012 
(DSPCC)

3 months 

Update Infrastructure Study if 
necessary

September - 
December 2012 

Page 5



Report Page No: 6 

Viability Assessment September – 
December 2012 

Update viability work As necessary 
pending results of 
consultations and 
market changes 

Charging Schedule 
Consultation on Preliminary Draft 
Charging Schedule (PDCS) 

March  - April 
2013

6 weeks 

Consultation on Draft Charging 
Schedule (DCS)

July 2013 4 weeks 

Statement of Modifications to Draft 
Charging Schedule (if required) 

Sept/Oct 2013 Publication for 4 
weeks

Submission of Draft Charging 
Schedule to Examiner 

November 2013 

Examination hearing (by 
independent inspector) 

January – 
February 2014 

2 to 5 days

Inspectors Report Feb  - March 
2014

Adoption at Full Council April 2014 

Table 2 – Project Plan 

2012 2013 2014

Task J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A

Infrastructure 
Study 

   

Viability 
Study 

! ! !

CILCharging 
Schedule

" " x x # $ $ % &

 Update infrastructure work if necessary 
!  Update viability work if necessary 
" Consultation on Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule (6 weeks) 
x Consultation on Draft Charging Schedule (4 weeks) 
#   Submission of Draft Charging Schedule 
$  Examination hearing (2 to 5 days) 
%   Inspectors report 
&  Adoption at full Council 

Page 6



Report Page No: 7 

Administrative Processes 

3.19 The introduction of CIL will involve making some wide-ranging 
changes to the Council’s internal processes and systems – potentially 
relating to finance, ICT, legal, planning, monitoring and enforcement.

3.20 There are a few authorities that have now adopted CIL or who are 
further through the process and lessons can be learnt from their 
experiences. There are some computer systems now available to 
cater for the extensive additional administration processes involved. 
Further investigations into these and how they will sit within our 
existing systems and S.106 monitoring will be ongoing.

3.21 There will be a requirement to set up new procedures for the collection 
of CIL through the planning application process, there will be 
enforcement issues for legal services, and implications for finance 
including collection, accounting and invoicing. A cross-departmental 
team has been established in relation to this where staff will be given 
responsibility for discreet areas of work under the umbrella of a project 
team. This work will be overseen by the Developer’s Contribution 
Delivery Board, which includes key senior officers.  

Governance

3.22 Significant new governance arrangements will need to be put in place 
prior to the adoption of any charging schedule. There is a need to 
ensure that any monies collected are spent in accordance with a ‘ 
‘priorities list’ (known as a Regulation 123 list). This list will not be 
tested as part of the CIL Examination but should be informed by work 
that has been done on the prioritisation of infrastructure projects 
through the Infrastructure Delivery Study.  

3.23 The detailed and important nature of the prioritisation work points to a 
transparent process to establish a governance arrangement and 
decision making mechanism. There is no prescribed method for doing 
this. Huntingdonshire District Council have recently adopted a CIL and 
have put arrangements in place through their Local Strategic 
Partnership for future decisions on infrastructure spending of CIL 
receipts to form part of an Annual Business Plan in the public domain. 
This will be agreed with key delivery partners, including key 
infrastructure providers and the County Council. 

3.24 East Cambridgeshire District Council is in the process of developing a 
‘CIL Funding Strategy’ (which will also consider other sources of 
funding). As part of this process it is intended to establish a joint 
ECDC and County Council Advisory Forum, but final decisions on 
spend will be made by the relevant District Council Committee.  

Page 7



Report Page No: 8 

3.25 Governance arrangements will need to include consultation with key 
stakeholders such as Cambridgeshire County Council and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council and will need to be in place prior to 
the adoption of the Local Pan and CIL in 2014. This is an area of work 
that will evolve as the project progresses and initial scoping of more 
detailed terms of reference for this work will be carried out. This strand 
of work would be likely to commence by late 2012/early 2013. 

Meaningful Proportion 

3.26 Related to project prioritisation this project will need to address issues 
with and identify methods of giving a ‘meaningful proportion’ of CIL 
back to communities. Although the government has yet to outline 
exactly what the ‘meaningful proportion’ will amount to it has the 
objective of strengthening the role and financial autonomy of 
neighbourhoods in order to give local communities more means to 
determine the shape of their area. The Council will need to retain a 
percentage of funds collected and engage with the local community to 
determine how to spend receipts. The current work on developer 
contributions and devolved decision making could provide a useful 
blueprint for this work. 

Monitoring 

3.27 The Council will have to publish annual reports detailing how money 
has been spent. 

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications

4.1 The move to CIL will maximise returns on funding for infrastructure 
projects over and above Section 106 returns, particularly given the 
increased limitations on the use of S.106 for strategic infrastructure 
post 2014.

4.2 For example, London Borough of Redbridge anticipate that CIL could 
generate approximately £2.5million per annum based on moderate 
growth projections of 500 new market homes per year. This compares 
to their best ever S106 result for ‘CIL-type’ infrastructure of £1.5million 
in 2007/08 at the height of the market. 

4.3 CIL regulations allow for up to 5% of the charge to relate to 
administration/implementation costs.  

(b) Staffing Implications   (if not covered in Consultations Section) 

Page 8



Report Page No: 9 

4.4 There are no direct staffing implications from this report. Becoming a 
CIL charging authority will, however, involve officer time from Planning 
(including registration, development management and enforcement), 
Finance (collection, accounting, invoicing) and Legal (enforcement 
and input into charging schedule development). 

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

4.5 An Equalities Impact Assessment will be undertaken as part of 
developing CIL. 

(d) Environmental Implications

4.6 There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report. 
Once introduced CIL will assist in the delivery of high quality 
sustainable new developments, alongside the protection and 
enhancement of the built and natural environments of the city. As such 
it is anticipated that CIL will have a positive climate change rating, 
although the precise nature of this positive impact will be dependent 
on the detailed proposals. 

(e) Consultation

4.7 Appropriate consultation with residents and developers and other key 
stakeholders will be undertaken at key stages, as outlined above in 
Table 1. 

(f) Community Safety

4.8 There are no direct community safety implications arising from this 
report.

5. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 
 ! Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 and 2011 
 ! Community Infrastructure Levy Guidance – DCLG 2010 
 ! The Community Infrastructure Levy Summary – DCLG 2010 
 ! The Community Infrastructure Levy An Overview – DCLG 2011 
 ! Community Infrastructure Levy Relief – DCLG 2011 
 ! Community Infrastructure Levy Collection and Enforcement DCLG 

2011

6. Inspection of papers 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Page 9



Report Page No: 10 

Author’s Name: Brendan Troy
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457442
Author’s Email: Brendan.troy@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 10



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Planning and Climate 
Change: Councillor Tim Ward 

Report by: Head of Planning Services 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Development Plan Scrutiny 
Sub Committee 

17/07/2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

Joint Statement on the Development Strategy for Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough
Key decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The report provides an update since the Joint Statement on the 
Development Strategy for Cambridgeshire was agreed by the 
Cambridgeshire Authorities in Autumn 2010. An updated Joint 
Statement has been prepared for agreement to cover the period 
before a new non statutory spatial framework is agreed. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 The report is being submitted to Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-
Committee for prior consideration and comment before decision by the 
Executive Councillor for Planning and Climate Change. 

2.2 The Executive Councillor is recommended to approve the updated 
Joint Statement on the Development Strategy for Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough as set out in Appendix A. The previous statement is 
attached at Appendix B for information. 

3. Background 

3.1 There is a long history of joint working between the Cambridgeshire 
authorities to address the issues affecting Cambridgeshire and to 
establish a strategy for the future development of the County and sub-
region. In summary, this approach stems back to the preparation and 
adoption of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 
(2003) and the joint work undertaken as part of the review of the East 
of England Plan in 2008 and 2009. 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 6

Page 11



Report Page No: 2 

3.2 Following the announcement from the coalition government in May 
2010 that they intended to abolish Regional Spatial Strategies through 
the Localism Act, the Cambridgeshire Authorities agreed a joint 
position statement in Autumn 2010. This reiterated the commitment to 
delivering the existing development strategy, and continued joint 
working. For the City Council, this statement was agreed at 
Environment Scrutiny Committee in October 2010 and is attached for 
information at Appendix B.  

3.3 Since the Joint Statement was agreed in 2010, a number of changes 
to the planning system have taken place. The Localism Act was 
established in November 2011 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework was introduced in March 2012. In addition, the Council 
has started the review of the 2006 Cambridge Local Plan, with 
consultation on Issues and Options currently underway until 27 July 
2012.

3.4 Under the Localism Act and National Planning Policy Framework, 
Councils have a formal duty to cooperate on planning issues that 
cross administrative boundaries, particularly those that relate to 
strategic priorities. Councils are required to work collaboratively to 
ensure that strategic priorities across local boundaries are properly co-
ordinated and clearly reflected in individual Local Plans. The plan 
making authorities will be expected to demonstrate evidence that they 
have successfully cooperated to plan for issues with cross boundary 
impacts when Local Plans and the County Transport Strategy are 
submitted for examination. 

3.5 As part of the duty to cooperate, a Joint Strategic Planning Unit has 
been established for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. A Member 
Governance Board has been set up and met on 5 July 2012. This  
Board will ensure that a coherent approach is taken to development 
strategies across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, and that the duty 
to cooperate is actively addressed. 

3.6 As part of early work undertaken by the Joint Strategic Planning Unit, 
an updated Joint Statement on the Development Strategy for 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough has been prepared. Appendix A 
sets out the updated Joint Statement. This has been updated on the 
basis that it provides an opportunity to restate the commitment to joint 
working, particularly in light of the Joint Strategic Planning Unit, the 
Local Enterprise Partnership, the duty to co-operate and National 
Planning Policy Framework.

4. Implications 

Page 12



Report Page No: 3 

(a) Financial Implications 

4.1 There are no direct financial safety implications arising from this 
report.

 (b) Staffing Implications

4.2 There are no direct staffing implications from this report.  

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

4.3 There are no direct equal opportunity implications arising from this 
report.

(d) Environmental Implications

4.4 There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report. 

(e) Consultation

4.5  There are no direct  consultation implications arising from this report. 

(f) Community Safety

4.6 There are no direct community safety implications arising from this 
report.

5. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 
 ! Localism Act 2011. 
 ! National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012. 

6. Appendices 
 ! Appendix A – Joint Statement on the Development Strategy for 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough by the Local Authorities, 2012. 
 ! Appendix B – Joint Statement on the Development Strategy for 

Cambridgeshire by the Cambridgeshire Authorities, 2010.

7. Inspection of papers 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Sara Saunders
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457186
Author’s Email: Sara.saunders@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 13



Report Page No: 4 Page 14



 

1 
 

                                                           

Appendix A 

JOINT STATEMENT ON THE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY FOR 
CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH BY THE LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES1

1 Introduction 

1.1 In 2010 the Coalition Government announced its intention to abolish Regional 
Spatial Strategies (and by extension any ‘saved’ Structure Plan policies) and 
introduce a wholly locally-based planning system.  In response to this 
changing policy environment the Cambridgeshire authorities issued a joint 
statement in autumn 2010 to set out their position in support of the existing, 
established development strategy for the County. 

1.2 This statement updates and replaces that earlier one in the light of events 
since its publication in 2010.  It is expanded to cover Peterborough in addition 
to Cambridgeshire, reflecting the history of joint working between the two 
areas, the shared objectives within the Local Enterprise Partnership, and the 
recent agreement to co-operate effectively and work together on strategic 
planning issues. 

2 Background 

2.1 The existing development strategy originated in the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 and with the support of all of the 
Cambridgeshire local authorities was incorporated in the East of England Plan 
(the Regional Spatial Strategy) published in 2008.  These strategic plans 
informed the development of the City and District Councils’ Local Plan and 
Local Development Frameworks, which currently are being implemented. 

2.2 The key objective of the strategy is to secure sustainable development by 
locating new homes in and close to Cambridge and Peterborough and to 
other main centres of employment, while avoiding dispersed development 
which increases unsustainable travel and restricts access to key services and 
facilities.  Further sustainable locations for growth focus mainly on 
Cambridgeshire’s market towns and Peterborough’s district centres, with one 
large new town (Northstowe) to be connected to Cambridge and other key 
locations through a new dedicated public transport option, the Cambridgeshire 
Guided Busway. 

2.3 Implementation of the strategy is on-going, with new urban extensions being 
delivered in Cambridge and Peterborough. With the Busway now up and 

 
1
 Cambridgeshire County Council, Cambridge City Council, East Cambridgeshire District Council, 

Fenland District Council, Huntingdonshire District Council, Peterborough City Council and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council. 

Page 15



 

2 
 

running, significant development activity is underway in Cambridge’s southern 
and north-west fringes and an application for a first phase for the new town of 
Northstowe has been submitted.  Major developments, essential regeneration 
and infrastructure provision in Cambridgeshire’s market towns continue to 
make positive progress.

3 National and Local Developments 

3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework, published recently, requires all local 
authorities to plan for sustainable development including planning positively 
for economic growth, with their local plans being prepared on the basis that 
objectively assessed development needs should be met.  With the enactment 
of the Localism Act in 2011, all local authorities are now under a Duty to Co-
operate in the preparation of their plans, both with each other and a range of 
other bodies. 

3.2 The national economic situation has presented significant challenges in 
maintaining the pace of growth and the delivery of sufficient investment where 
it is most needed.  In the face of these challenges, the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough local authorities have continued to take a positive attitude to 
delivery of the development strategy and have taken innovative approaches to 
funding challenges - for example, the equity investment in the southern fringe 
sites.  This has enabled development to start earlier than would otherwise 
have been the case, whilst still securing a future financial return for the 
authorities which can then be reinvested to support future high quality growth 
for the benefit of local communities.

3.3 The Greater Cambridge-Greater Peterborough Local Enterprise Partnership is 
now well-established and has secured the designation of an Enterprise Zone 
at the former Alconbury airfield.  The County Council has also announced it is 
putting in place the funding to deliver a new rail station in the north of 
Cambridge, which will enhance public transport accessibility and provide 
some relief to congestion within the city.  Work is now underway, led by the 
Department for Transport but working in partnership with the County and 
District Councils, to find a way forward for delivering improvements along the 
A14 corridor. The outcomes are critical in order to support a range of key 
development locations, including at Northstowe. An announcement from 
Government on the way forward is expected this summer.  

4 The Response to these Challenges

4.1 Despite the clarity of and support for the existing development strategy, the 
local authorities realise the need to keep the broader, strategic perspective 
under consideration.  As a result, all authorities except Peterborough City 
Council, which last year adopted a Core Strategy running to 2026, are 
undertaking a review or roll forward of their local plans. 

Page 16



 

3 
 

4.2 The need for this work results from a range of factors, including fostering 
continued economic growth, providing sufficient housing and the need for 
delivery of the necessary infrastructure to support the development of 
sustainable communities.   The review or roll forward of plans will also need to 
take account of the fundamental changes that are likely to impact on the 
existing strategy – for example, the current unavailability of Cambridge Airport 
for housing development or the introduction of the Enterprise Zone at 
Alconbury. With regard to the Enterprise Zone the local authorities will need to 
consider and effectively respond to the wider spatial implications of that 
designation as a matter of urgency  Nevertheless, it is critical that a combined 
clear focus and effort remains on the effective delivery of the existing 
ambitious strategy and the major developments that are part of it; and to 
recognise that Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, as a whole, still have more 
than adequate land coming forward to effectively deliver sustainable growth, 
which can be continued as the strategy is updated . 

4.3 Preparation of these updated plans will take account of policies outlined in the 
National Planning Policy Framework, including wide community engagement 
in accordance with the principles of localism.  This will enable engagement 
around a range of development needs, including community-based, locally-
generated proposals as well as those of more strategic significance.  
Furthermore, the local authorities will continue their long history of close 
collaboration and joint working as part of their Duty to Co-operate.  This will 
include jointly gathering appropriate forms of evidence to both inform their 
plans and to shape the formulation of their strategies.  Their work will be 
supported and constructively challenged at a strategic level by a newly-
formed Joint Strategic Planning Unit.  Close links to the Local Enterprise 
Partnership will also be further developed. 

4.4 In undertaking the review or roll forward of their plans, the local authorities are 
clear that fundamentally they will continue to be guided by the sequential 
settlement hierarchy and strategic principles which underpinned the original 
growth strategy, first set out in the 2003 Structure Plan.  Locating homes in 
and close to the principal urban areas and to other main centres of 
employment is critical to ensure appropriate, sustainable development.  It is 
essential, therefore, that the future development needs of the wider area are 
considered and agreed through a strategic plan-led approach, which takes 
account of identified local and national priorities. 

4.5 Pending this review of the strategy, the local authorities are clear that they 
remain committed to delivering the existing planned strategy, and that 
significant capacity exists in terms of housing and employment land supply as 
we recover from the recession.  During the transition period leading up to the 
introduction of their new, updated local plans, the local authorities will 
continue to give full weight to current, adopted planning policies. 

Page 17



 

4 
 

June 2012 

Page 18



APPENDIX B 

JOINT STATEMENT ON THE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY FOR 
CAMBRIDGESHIRE BY THE CAMBRIDGESHIRE 
AUTHORITIES - 2010 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This statement has been prepared by the Cambridgeshire 
authorities to set out our position regarding the development 
strategy for the County in light of the Government’s recent 
announcement of the revocation of Regional Spatial 
Strategies and aspiration for a locally based planning system. 

1.2 The Cambridgeshire authorities have a long history of joint 
working on planning issues and will continue to work together 
to share information and develop good practice.  A significant 
evidence base has been built up that provides the authorities 
with important information to guide further work.  An important 
outcome of this approach was the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Structure Plan - a sustainable strategy for 
growth that was tested at Examination and adopted in 2003.  
This strategy was adopted largely unchanged in the Regional 
Spatial Strategy (2008) and the authorities’ response to the 
RSS review in 2009.  The Structure Plan strategy has also 
informed the development of the City and District Councils’ 
Local Plan and Local Development Frameworks and is 
currently being implemented by the authorities through their 
development decisions.  

2 Cambridgeshire strategy 

2.1 The Cambridgeshire authorities remain committed to the 
strategy for planning in the County, including the provision of 
housing, as originally established by the Structure Plan and as 
now partially set out in saved Structure Plan policies and as 
reflected by the policies and site proposals in the Cambridge 
Local Plan and District Councils’ Development Plan 
Documents and developing strategies for market towns.  

2.1 The key objective of the strategy is to locate homes in and 
close to Cambridge, following a comprehensive review of the 
Cambridge Green Belt, and to other main centres of 

Page 19



employment, while avoiding dispersed development which 
increases unsustainable travel and makes access to services 
and community facilities difficult.  Further sustainable locations 
for growth focus mainly on Cambridgeshire’s market towns. 

2.2 This strategy makes provision for development:  

 !within Cambridge or as sustainable extensions to the urban 
area, subject to environmental capacity and compatibility 
with Green Belt objectives.  

 !at the new town of Northstowe, linked to the guided busway; 
 !within, or as sustainable extensions to, the market towns of 

Wisbech, March, Ely, Huntingdon and St Neots, subject to 
the potential for regeneration and the provision of essential 
infrastructure and public transport improvements1; and 

 !within, or as extensions to, other market towns, where 
development would increase the towns’ sustainability and 
self-containment, improvements to infrastructure and 
services are planned or will be provided and high quality 
public transport provision can reduce the impacts of out-
commuting.

2.3 This strategy has met with considerable success so far and a 
large number of sites have already been delivered throughout 
the County or are under construction, with more remaining to 
be developed.  Despite the recession, construction has 
continued and Cambridgeshire is identified as one of the key 
areas of the country likely to lead the national economy into 
recovery.

2.4 Despite recent announcements about the relocation of 
Marshalls from Cambridge airport, the authorities consider that 
Cambridge East retains great potential for sustainable 
development and currently remains part of the strategy.  The 
authorities also consider that there is sufficient availability of 
housing land over the short to medium term.  Cambridge East 
will be considered alongside other sites as part of a fuller 
review of the strategy. 

3      Looking forward 

                                           
1      Huntingdon and St Neots in this policy refers to the Spatial Planning Areas as defined in 

the adopted Huntingdonshire Core Strategy

Page 20



3.1 The Cambridgeshire authorities remain committed to the 
strategy for planning in the County outlined above, as 
embedded in the Cambridge Local Plan and District Councils’ 
Development Plan Documents.  However, with factors such as 
fragile economic growth, the need to rebalance the economy 
towards the private sector, changing demographic pressures, 
the challenges of climate change, uncertainty over 
infrastructure provision and emerging proposals for the 
Greater Cambridge and Greater Peterborough Local 
Enterprise Partnership, there remains a need to keep the 
strategy under review. 

3.2 The authorities will continue to work together on place-shaping 
issues and will begin gathering evidence to inform decisions 
on future development levels and locations, so that the 
strategy that emerges will be based on a thorough 
understanding of the issues the County faces, including cross-
County boundary impacts.  Moves to a more locally based 
planning system will provide the authorities with much greater 
freedom.  We will ensure that under this new system the future 
strategy is driven by the needs and aspirations of local 
communities, is fully deliverable, ensures the County’s 
continuing economic success and protects and enhances 
Cambridgeshire’s unique environment.

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Community Infrastructure Levy for Cambridge
	6 Joint Statement on the Development Strategy for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
	Appendix A Update Joint Statement
	Appendix B - Update Joint Statement


